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I. STATEMENT

1. This is a civil penalty assessment proceeding brought by the Staff of the Colorado Public Utilities Commission (Staff) against the Respondent, Ralph Elsell, doing business as Ralph Limousine Service (Ralph Limousine).

2. In Civil Penalty Assessment Notice (CPAN) No. 75192, Staff alleges that Ralph Limousine has violated various portions of the October 1, 1998 edition of the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations, 49 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Chapter III.  These regulations have been incorporated into the Commission’s Rules Regulating Safety for Motor Vehicle Carriers and Establishing Civil Penalties (Safety Rules), 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-15, by 4 CCR 723-15-2.1.

3. In CPAN No. 75192, Staff alleges that between April 25, 2005 and May 26, 2005, Ralph Limousine violated 49 CFR Part 391.51(a) on one occasion (Count 1), 49 CFR Part 396.3(b)(1) on two occasions (Counts 2 through 3), 49 CFR Part 396.3(b)(2) on two occasions (Counts 4 through 5), and 49 CFR Part 396.11(a) on five occasions (Counts 6 through 10).  See, Exhibit 2.  The subject CPAN seeks imposition of a civil penalty in the amount of $2,000.00 for these alleged violations.  

4. On July 12, 2005, the Commission issued an Order Setting Hearing and Notice of Hearing setting a hearing in this matter for August 29, 2005, in Denver, Colorado.  

5. The undersigned Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) called the matter for hearing at the assigned time and place.  Staff appeared through counsel and Mr. Ralph Elsell appeared pro se.  During the course of the hearing, Exhibits 1 and 2 were identified, offered, and admitted into evidence.  Mr. Ted Barrett, a Senior Compliance Investigator with the Commission, testified in support of the allegations contained in CPAN No. 75192.  Mr. Elsell testified on behalf of himself.

6. By Decision No. R05-1052, the ALJ issued a recommended decision concluding that Staff had proven the rule violations alleged.  However, the recommendation was that the civil penalty assessment be dismissed because Staff failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that those violations were intentional.

7. Pursuant to § 40-6-109, C.R.S., Staff filed exceptions to the Recommended Decision.  With its exceptions, Staff also moved to schedule a hearing to take additional evidence based upon additional facts contained in an Affidavit of Ted M. Barrett attached to the pleading.  See Staff’s Exceptions to Decision No. R05-1052 and Motion to Schedule a Hearing to Take Additional Evidence, at 3.

8. By Decision No. C05-1258, the Commission remanded the case back to the ALJ to determine whether to schedule an additional hearing to take evidence of Mr. Ted Barrett’s affidavit.  Decision No. C05-1258, Ordering paragraph 1.

9. Primarily considering the Commission’s important function to protect the health and safety of the traveling public, the ALJ issued Decision No. R06-0009-I setting an additional evidentiary hearing to clarify and correct the record, and to consider the new evidence described in Mr. Barrett’s affidavit.  In addition to the foregoing information, Mr. Barrett’s affidavit contradicted the foundation for the admission of Exhibit 1.  Thus, Exhibit 1 was stricken, without prejudice.

10. The undersigned ALJ called the matter for an additional evidentiary hearing at the assigned time and place.  Staff appeared through counsel and Mr. Elsell appeared pro se.  During the course of the hearing, Exhibits 3 and 4 were identified, offered, and admitted into evidence.  Mr. Ted Barrett, a Senior Compliance Investigator with the Commission, testified in support on behalf of Staff.  Mr. Elsell testified on his own behalf.

11. Decision No. R06-0009-I defined the scope of the hearing to allow evidence as to whether the violations previously found were intentional.  Further, Staff’s presentation at hearing potentially impacted Mr. Elsell’s rebuttal case as well as the decision whether to present other mitigating circumstances surrounding particular violations.  Therefore, in addition to cross-examination and rebuttal of additional testimony, Ralph Limousine was allowed to present any mitigating circumstances, if desired or applicable.

12. In accordance with § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the undersigned now transmits to the Commission the record and exhibits in this proceeding along with a written recommended decision on remand.

II. findings of fact

13. Ralph Limousine is a luxury limousine carrier with Commission Authority No. LL-00836, and is subject to the Commission’s Rules Regulating Safety for Motor Vehicle Carriers and Establishing Civil Penalties, 4 CCR 723-15.  Rule 2.1 of those rules, in part, incorporates by reference federal requirements relating to motor vehicle carriers found at Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations (revised as of October 1, 1998).

14. On June 10, 2005, Mr. Barrett conducted a Safety and Compliance Review (Audit) of Ralph Limousine.  At that time, he reviewed the books and records maintained by the company and determined that it had failed to comply with certain recordkeeping requirements imposed on motor carriers by the Safety Rules.  The Audit concluded those violations alleged in CPAN No. 75192. 

15. The Audit indicated that Ralph Limousine failed to maintain driver qualification files for driver R. Elsell, failed to demonstrate compliance with 49 CFR Part 396.3(b)(1) (failing to maintain identification for a 1995 Lincoln and a 2003 Lincoln), failed to demonstrate compliance with 49 CFR Part 396.3(b)(2) (failing to maintain a maintenance plan), and failed to demonstrate compliance with 49 CFR Part 396.11(a) (failing to prepare vehicle inspection reports).

16. Mr. Barrett prepared CPAN No. 75192 shortly after completing the Audit.  He served it on Ralph Elsell on June 27, 2005.  See, Exhibit 2, page 2.

17. Mr. Barrett identified Exhibit 3 as the Certification of Correction signed by Mr. Elsell following a prior Safety and Compliance Audit that he conducted on May 21, 2002 (one page).  Exhibit 3 was prepared by Mr. Barrett and mailed to Mr. Elsell in the ordinary course of his duties with the Commission.  It also includes Mr. Elsell’s signature certifying that the violations listed in the Safety and Compliance Audit had been corrected and the Commission’s stamp acknowledging receipt on May 28, 2002.

18. After conducting a Safety and Compliance Audit, Mr. Barrett prepares a report of the type represented by Exhibit 4 and a Certificate of Correction.  The package is then provided to the carrier, who upon correction of the violations alleged, executes the certificate and returns it to the Commission.

19. Mr. Barrett then identified Exhibit 4 (three pages) to be the report that assesses safety compliance based upon the Safety and Compliance Audit he conducted on May 21, 2002.  However, Mr. Barrett acknowledged that Exhibit 4 is neither the original report, nor a duplicate of the original, that was mailed to Mr. Elsell accompanying Exhibit 3.  Mr. Barrett then explained why the Commission cannot provide the original document, nor a duplicate thereof.

20. In 2002, Mr. Barrett prepared the original Transportation Safety and Compliance Review that was provided to Mr. Elsell with Exhibit 3.  There were two copies printed of the report at that time.  One was mailed to Mr. Elsell with Exhibit 3 (i.e., the Commission no longer has that copy). 

21. The second printed copy was filed in the carrier’s safety file at the Commission.  Mr. Barrett testified that the Commission’s Chief of Transportation directs that these safety files be periodically reviewed and purged.  In that process, the Transportation Safety and Compliance Review, along with all other records from the audit, was destroyed and the Commission relies upon the electronic version of the final report that is saved on the Commission’s shared computer network directory (the G drive).  Because there was no computer record of the Certificate of Correction, the Commission copy of the certificate was retained.

22. Mr. Barrett went on to describe that the electronic version of the report is neither the original report nor a duplicate thereof.  The original report is prepared in a Microsoft Word template.  The date of the report is a field in the template that automatically updates each time the file is opened.

23. On August 23, 2005, in preparation for hearing, Mr. Barrett opened the electronic document.  At the time, he did not notice or recall the computer system date of the saved file before it was opened.  After opening the file, he noticed that the report reflected the then-current date.  He manually changed the date on the report to May 22, 2002 and printed it as an exhibit for hearing.  The revised electronic document was then saved and closed.  It is apparent that the original electronic file was not saved in a “read-only” format because Mr. Barrett clarified that if the Transportation Safety and Compliance Review report for the May 2002 audit were opened on February 7, 2006, it would appear as Exhibit 4 -- the first page would be dated May 22, 2002 (per his manual edit saved August 23, 2005) and the remaining pages would be dated February 7, 2006.

24. Comparing Exhibits 3 and 4, Mr. Barrett confirmed that several pieces of common information are consistently reflected on both documents.  Addressing concerns raised by the ALJ that the report was not saved in a read-only format and was accessible on the Commission’s shared network drive, Mr. Barrett provided further corroboration that the violations listed on the second page of Exhibit 4 are in fact as they appeared in the original report mailed to Mr. Elsell with Exhibit 3.

25. The Commission maintains a Microsoft Access database that has very restricted access.  The information included in a final Transportation Safety and Compliance Review (i.e., including the report date and violations cited) is recorded in the database.  The “S&C Register Record” indicated at the bottom of Exhibit 3 identified the record in the database associated with the review.

26. Mr. Barrett confirmed that when he prepared Exhibit 4 for hearing, he verified that the violations in the S&C Register Record also match those listed in Exhibit 4.

27. Mr. Elsell previously testified that he was told his recordkeeping was “fine” 2002.  Despite testimony regarding the prior audit and Certification of Correction, he testified that he kept his records in the same manner since he started doing business six years ago.  

28. At the hearing on remand, Mr. Elsell was allowed to rebut additional testimony taken at the hearing, including presentation of any mitigating circumstances, if desired or applicable.  He first acknowledged that he has made mistakes in his compliance in the past, but he is adamant that notebooks of documentation (only generally referenced at hearing) are now in full compliance with Commission requirements.  He reiterates that prior to the 2005 review, he was not aware that he was not in full compliance with Commission requirements.  In connection with the review conducted in 2005, he met with Mr. Barrett to review his prior practices and he now asserts that appropriate corrections have been made.

29. Finally, he reiterated testimony from the prior hearing that his company is very small and that he cannot afford to be penalized by the Commission for the violations in the CPAN.  He needs to support his family.  

III. discussion 

30. A carrier providing luxury limousine service is a motor vehicle carrier exempt from regulation as a public utility, as defined in § 40-16-101(4)(a), C.R.S.  However, such exempt carriers are subject to the Safety Rules.  See, § 40-16-105, C.R.S., and 4 CCR 723-15-1.  The Safety Rules incorporate the 1998 edition of 49 CFR Part 391.  See, 4 CCR 723-15-2.1.  Therefore, Ralph Limousine is subject to the Safety Rules and its intentional violation of the same subjects it to civil penalties of up to $200.00 per day under 4 CCR 723-15.12.5.  See also, § 40-7-113(1)(g), C.R.S., § 40-7-115, C.R.S., and § 40-7-112(1), C.R.S.  Although an intentional violation may be proven by other means, a carrier is deemed to have intentionally violated a provision of the Safety Rules if, after having been issued a written notice of violation, it violates the same provision again.  See, 4 CCR 723-15-12.10.     

31. Commission enforcement personnel have authority to issue CPANs under § 40-7-116, C.R.S.  That statute provides that the Commission has the burden of demonstrating a violation by a preponderance of the evidence. 

32. Mr. Barrett conducted a Safety and Compliance Review of Ralph Limousine on June 10, 2005.  That review consisted of examining Ralph Limousine’s records to determine Ralph Limousine’s compliance with applicable safety regulations.  Based upon that review, Mr. Barrett issued CPAN No. 75192, which alleges that, between April 25, 2005 and May 26, 2005, Ralph Limousine committed ten violations of Commission rules.

33. At hearing, Mr. Barrett confirmed his findings that Ralph Limousine had violated Commission rules in the 2005 Safety and Compliance Review as alleged in CPAN No. 75192.  The ALJ finds Mr. Barrett’s testimony credible in this regard.

34. Staff seeks a $200 penalty per violation against Ralph Limousine as provided in Rule 12.5, 4 CCR 723-15.  

35. In order for Ralph Limousine to be charged the civil penalty, in addition to the violation of Commission rules found above, Staff must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Ralph Limousine has intentionally violated Commission rules.  See Rule 12.5, 4 CCR 723-15.  

36. Mr. Elsell testified that he never intentionally violated the Commission’s rules.  However, Staff need not prove Mr. Elsell’s state of mind in this case if it is shown that he was issued prior written notification of the same violations in 2002. See, 4 CCR 723-15-12.10.  Staff relies upon Exhibits 3 and 4, and sponsoring testimony, to demonstrate issuance of prior written notification for the same violations.   

37. On May 24, 2002, Mr. Elsell certified that the violations noted in the safety and Compliance Audit report mailed to him on May 22, 2002 were corrected.  See Exhibit 3.  Such report listed the violations found during the review of Mr. Elsell’s records performed on May 21, 2002. See Exhibit 4.

38. Mr. Barrett conducted the review of Mr. Elsell’s records in 2002 and personally prepared the Transportation Safety and Compliance Review that was mailed to Mr. Elsell on May 22, 2002.  At the time the original report was prepared, Mr. Barrett also created the S&C Register record in the Commission’s Microsoft Access database to record all relevant aspects of the review conducted in 2002 (i.e., date of the audit, the report, and violations as well as the violations cited).

39. The Commission has neither the original report from 2002, nor a duplicate thereof.

40. In Commission proceedings, the rules of evidence and requirements of proof shall conform, to the extent practicable, with those in civil nonjury cases in the district courts.  § 24-4-105(7) C.R.S.  

41. The Colorado Rules of Evidence define a duplicate as “a counterpart produced by the same impression as the original, or from the same matrix, or by means of photography, including enlargements and miniatures, or by mechanical or electronic re-recording, or by chemical reproduction, or by other equivalent techniques which accurately reproduce the original.”  Rule 1001(4) of the Colorado Rules of Evidence.

42. “If alterations in the duplicates and/or the originals of otherwise admissible documents have been made, such documents are still admissible provided a full and satisfactory explanation of such alterations is made prior to their admission.” People v. Wolfe, 662 P.2d 502, 504 (Colo. Ct. App. 1983), citing Cliff v. People, 84 Colo. 254, 269 P. 907 (1928).  Acknowledging that the cited authority predates the Colorado Rules of Evidence, the Court of Appeals specifically found the case to be sound law within the context of the rules.  Id.  “The full explanation requirement enunciated in Cliff v. People, supra, is sufficient to insure that unfairness is avoided.”  People v. Wolfe, 662 P.2d 502, 504 (Colo. Ct. App. 1983)

43. When Mr. Barrett retrieved the Commission’s electronic record of the 2002 report, he verified the accuracy of the violations with the database record, changed the date on the first page, and printed it for use as an exhibit at hearing (admitted as Exhibit 4).   But for the altered date, Exhibit 4 is admissible as an accurate duplicate of the original report mailed to Mr. Elsell in 2002.

44. All of the violations alleged in CPAN No. 75192 were included in the Transportation Safety and Compliance Review that was mailed to Mr. Elsell on May 22, 2002.  Therefore, the proven violations are deemed to be intentional in accordance with Commission rules and Staff need not prove specific intent. See 4 CCR 723-15-12.10.

45. Therefore, the ALJ finds that Staff has met its burden to demonstrate the violations by a preponderance of the evidence.  Staff has also proven that Mr. Elsell intentionally violated the Safety Rules within the meaning of 4 CCR 723-15-12.10.  

46. Section 40-7-113, C.R.S., and Commission rules, authorize the Commission to assess civil penalties for the involved violations of “not more than” $200.00 for each violation encompassed by CPAN No. 75192.  Therefore, it has the ability to consider aggravating or mitigating circumstances surrounding particular violations in order to fashion a penalty assessment that promotes the underlying purpose of such assessments.  These include, among others, deterring future violations, motivating a carrier to come into compliance with the law, and punishing a carrier for prior, illegal behavior.

47. Mr. Elsell appears to have been cooperative in the CPAN process, he has made an honest effort to comply with Commission requirements and is sincere in his stated belief that he has made all necessary corrections.  His testimony as to corrections made stands uncontroverted.  There is no evidence in this docket that any member of the traveling public suffered as a result of the violations.  Mr. Elsell was not aware that his prior practices failed to comply with applicable Commission regulation.

48. On the other hand, the Commission must rely upon carriers to comply with applicable regulations, including in this instance, the safety rules.  It is Mr. Elsell’s obligation to be familiar with the Commission’s rules and to comply with them for the protection of the traveling public.  His failure to meet these important obligations cannot be ignored and Staff recommends assessment of substantial penalties in this case.  Although Mr. Elsell will suffer from imposition of fine for the violations, the safety of a passenger traveling in a luxury limousine (not to mention other vehicles) is equally at risk without regard to the size of entity owning the luxury limousine. 

49. Under the circumstances presented in this docket, a reduction in the allowable penalty is justified. The evidence indicates that Mr. Elsell is motivated to comply with the law and he has made an effort to ensure prospective compliance with Commission requirements.  The evidence indicates that the violations were unintentional.  A significant assessment will deter future violations and appropriately punish prior, illegal behavior.  For these reasons, the penalty to be assessed in this matter will be reduced to $133.00 for each of the ten counts of the CPAN.

IV. conclUSIONS

50. Staff has sustained its burden of proving the allegations contained in CPAN No. 75192 by a preponderance of the evidence as required by § 40-7-116, C.R.S. The total penalty for such violation is reduced from $2,000.00 to $1,330.00. See, § 40-7-113(1)(g), C.R.S.

V. ORDER

A. The Commission Orders That:

1. Ralph Elsell, doing business as Ralph Limousine Service, is assessed a civil penalty in the amount of $1,330.00 in connection with Civil Penalty  Assessment Notice No. 75192 and shall pay the total assessed penalty of $1,330.00 within ten days of the effective date of this Order.

2. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

3. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.

If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.

4. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.
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________________________________

Administrative Law Judge


G:\ORDER\282EC.doc:SRS






13

_1171191204.doc
[image: image1.png]Lo




[image: image2.png]





 












